FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
3/10/2021 2:59 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 99567-2

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In Re Matter of Mary J. Green, Vulnerable Adult

Appellant Jerome Green's Petition for Review to Supreme Court

Robert W. Critchlow Attorney for Appellant Jerome Green WSBA# 17540 208 E. Rockwell Ave Spokane, WA. 99207 (509) 483-4106***office (509) 216-6380***cell Email=critchie747@comcast.net

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Jerome Green asks this court to review the Division III opinion and order denying motion for reconsideration designated in Part B.

II. PART B

Petitioner requests that this court review the opinion dated Feb. 9, 2019 and order denying Green motion dated March 4, 2010 attached hereto in the appendix.

III. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>

- 1. The judgment entered on Feb. 22, 2019 against Jerome Green is null, void and without any legal effect due to lack of jurisdiction based on defective service of process on Mary J. Green.
- 2. Commissioner High-Edward's order to have Mary Green "reserved" with a second set of VAPO pleadings was an unlawful attempt to "bootstrap" jurisdiction for a case that was without jurisdiction at the inception due to defective service of process.
- 3.The majority opinion fails to state how it came to the conclusion that the VAPO statutes, RCW 74.34 et seq have "broad jurisdictional authority" even though these statutes involve "summary proceedings" and their interpretation must be "strictly construed" by the courts. This should be reviewed by this court as a matter of continuing and substantial public interest per RAP 13.4(b)(4)
- 4.The majority conclusion that RCW 74.34.130(4) allows Jerome Green to be summarily evicted from his own house (as a joint tenant) without that being a violation of the "takings clause" of the Fifth Amendment to the US constitutions needs to be reviewed. This should be reviewed by this court as a matter of continuing and substantial public interest per RAP 13.4(b)(4). This should also be reviewed by this court since it

involves a significant question of law under the constitution of the United States per RAP 13.4(b)(3)

IV. INTRODUCTION

This case involves a black family. Jerome Green is the 56 year old youngest child of Mary J. Green. Jerome has lived with his blind mother Mary Green who purchased a residence at 1704 E. 11th Ave. in Spokane, WA. in 1969. Mary and Jerome had both resided continuously together at the home.No other family members remained at the house but chose to move away and lead their own lives. Mary Green was blind and has other debilitating medical issues which required extensive care and supervision. For the past twenty years or so, Jerome has taken care of his mother while they both shared the expenses and upkeep of their home.

Mr. Green has worked in numerous fields including diesel mechanic, intercity bus driver, civil aviation security specialist at the Spokane International Airport and as a weight station operator In Idaho. Jerome has attended the Washington State Patrol Academy and was placed on a roster for WSP commercial vehicle enforcement sections. Jerome served as a Special Deputy with the Spokane County Sherriff's Office and has received extensive law enforcement training including crisis response and non-violent crisis intervention training. Mr. Green has also operated his own private investigation business, Alpha Investigations, where he did

skip tracing and service of process. At one time he owned and operated a bus touring company, Spokane Scenic Tours. Jerome has also worked at various construction jobs operating heavy equipment (including firefighting equipment) and had been regularly in demand for his skills.

Jerome has three sisters and a brother who live in Spokane but they all decided that the responsibility for caring for Mary Green should belong to Jerome alone and refused to contribute time or money to the care of their disabled mother Mary J. Green. Betty Farley, a neighbor and one time care giver for Mary, confirmed this in her letter dated Nov. 13, 2014 wherein Betty opined that Mary's other children "seem to be too busy to come over and assist with their mother and don't seem really to want to that much." In 2014 Jerome realized that if he were to be able to continue working that he would have to hire (out of his own pocket) a private care giver (neighbors) who would care for his mother while he was working. One of these private care givers being paid by Jerome was Betty Farley who was eventually hired and paid by the Department of Social and Health Services. According to DSHS records Ms. Farley failed to complete the training requirements and was terminated as a paid caregiver. From that point on Jerome was forced to rely upon professional caregiver services contracted for his mother by DSHS.

DSHS originally authorized only 10 hours per week and Jerome was concerned that this was not enough hours (due to the severity of her conditions) and so he sent his first "public record act" request/letter dated July 28, 2016 via his attorney Robert Critchlow to, among other things, obtain information on how DSHS calculated these hours and what rights Jerome and his mother would have to challenge these assessments. This initial request from attorney Critchlow was the <u>only</u> public record act request that DSHS answered and <u>all</u> the subsequent letters which were sent to DSHS by Jerome Green himself (pro se) were simply ignored.

On Sept. 27, 2012, Mary Green, recognizing that her son Jerome was the only one that was looking after her well being delivered a <u>quit</u> <u>claim deed</u> to him in consideration of "love and affection from mother to son" making Jerome a <u>joint tenant</u> owner of the residence at 1704 E. 11th Ave, Spokane, WA. [CP 205-209]. At the direction and advice of his attorney Robert Critchlow, this deed was subsequently filed with the Spokane County Auditor's Office on March 28, 2019.

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On Jan. 31, 2019 AAG Dawn Vidoni and APS investigator Tonya Claiborne signed, attested to and caused to be served an <u>ex parte</u> temporary VAPO order upon Jerome Green at his residence <u>without any</u>

prior notice to him [CP 1-28, 31-33] By letter dated January 30, 2019

DSHS also commenced a parallel administrative proceeding against

Jerome alleging these same issues about improperly feeding his mother

The judicial VAPO petition and declaration from Vidoni and Claiborne alleged that 1) Mary Green was being abused by her son Jerome in that Mary Green's children were going back and forth having Mary sign/revoke alternative powers of attorney and that 2) Jerome was feeding and providing liquids to his mother that put her at risk of aspiration. [CP 1-28, 31-33] There was never any proof that Jerome had ever caused his mother to choke. This petition also alleged that DSHS was going to file a petition for a "professional" guardianship of Mary J. Green [CP 1-28, 31-33] even though Mary Green had previously indicated to DSHS in writing on Feb. 6, 2019 that she did not want a guardianship. [CP 217-20] At the hearing on Feb. 22, 2019 Commissioner High-Edward made a finding of neglect and abuse on the part of Jerome Green.[CP 78-96]

The commissioner made findings of "abuse" and "neglect" as to Mr. Green's inability or unwillingness to follow feeding instructions for his mother although he <u>never</u> received any such training from DSHS. [RP 51, lines 9-10, May 13, 2019 hearing]As to Mr. Green's <u>intent</u>, Comm. High-Edward ruled that "don't think you did it with intent to harm your

mom because **I absolutely don't think you have that intent**." [CP 78-96 pg 14, lines 2-4)]

Since AAG Vidoni had alleged in the VAPO petition that DSHS was going to filed a guardianship petition and the commissioner ordered Vidoni to file the guardianship petition the following Monday Feb. 25, 2019.[CP 62-64] Despite being court ordered to file the petition the following Monday, Feb. 25, 2019 Vidoni left the VAPO hearing and presented her petition (ex parte) that very same day Friday, Feb. 22, 2019 to Commissioner Tony Rugel who signed an ex parte order appointing Dianna Evans as guardian ad litem for Mary Green. Vidoni did this without giving Jerome Green or his attorney Robert Critchlow an opportunity to appear and contest the appointment of a guardian ad litem.

After the Feb. 22, 2019 VAPO hearing, Jerome Green filed a motion to revise commissioner High-Edward's ruling and and Judge Moreno granted the motion to revise and remanded the case because there was an "unresolved issue regarding Mary Green's inability to consent as well as the burden of proof." [CP 193-194]

On March 26, 2019 AAG Vidoni filed a motion to modify the VAPO order of Feb. 22, 2019 [CP 107-123] requesting, inter alia, that the court make a finding of "financial exploitation" on the part of Jerome

Green. DSHS alleged that Mr. Green had opened a new bank account with Washington Trust Bank, had deposited a \$3500.00 check therein and had been making regular and unauthorized withdrawals for the benefit of himself and not for the benefit of his mother Mary Green. [CP 107-123] DSHS offered no support for these allegations other than financial records showing certain deposits and withdrawals. In other words, it was pure speculation on the part of Vidoni, Claiborne and DSHS that Jerome Green had been engaging in "financial exploitation" of his mother Mary J. Green. [CP 107-123]

On April 11, 2019 a status hearing was held and the court <u>for the</u> <u>first time ordered</u> [CP 141-142] APS investigator Tonya Claiborne to provide discovery (DSHS records) to attorney Critchlow's office by April 17, 2019. The court also ordered that Jerome Green "may not remove any documents or any other items from her home" [CP 141-142] Jerome Green filed his response on April 25, 2019 [CP 160-170, 146-159] in which he explained that 1) his attorney Robert Critchlow had advised him to open the new bank account due to the continuing interference by his sisters with the Umpqua Bank account and 2) the \$3500 check was for a personal injury settlement received from attorney Larry Kuznetz and that Kuznetz had advised Jerome (pg.3) to "pay it down" (on household expenses, etc) to reduce the amounts that exceeded

the Social Security rules on a how many assets a recipient could maintain in their accounts and still be eligible for services. Jerome went on to explain all the purchases he made for the benefit of Mary Green (maintenance and repairs, etc) Due to the April 11, 2019 order prohibiting him from retrieving (any items) his financial records and receipts from his home and principal place of business Jerome was only able to provide one invoice dated April 3, 2019 from AAA Drain Pros [CP 145-159]

By her letter to the parties dated April 30, 2019 [CP 171]

Commissioner High-Edward stated that she had reviewed the court file and there was no evidence that Mary Green had ever been personally served with the original petition (including the notice of rights) and
"without this I am unable to make a finding of consent when I am unsure if Mrs. Green was notified of her right to object."

Commissioner High-Edward then ordered that "the Department is required to serve Mrs. Green with the original petition and her notice of rights and provide a return of service to this effect before the hearing date." [CP 171]

After receiving Jerome's declaration about the allegations of "financial exploitation" AAG Vidoni and APS/DSHS withdrew their request to modify the VAPO to include a finding of "financial exploitation" [CP 179-181 and on, page, lines 23-24) and AAG Vidoni stated that "is it best handled administratively." Vidoni then turned the alleged financial exploitation issues over to the Office of Administrative Hearings to pursue these matters. In the superior court VAPO modification hearing of May 13, 2019 Commissioner High Edward ruled that Mary Green "did not consent" to the VAPO petition and that the correct burden of proof for the Feb. 22, 2019 VAPO hearing was the "preponderance of evidence" standard. [CP 193-194]

V. ARGUMENT OF WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

- 1.The judgment entered on Feb. 22, 2019 against Jerome Green is null and void without any legal effect due to lack of jurisdiction based on defective service of process on Mary Green.
- 2.Commissioner High-Edward's order to have Mary Green "re-served" with a second set of VAPO pleadings was an unlawful attempt to "bootstrap" jurisdiction for a case that was without jurisdiction at the inception.

On Jan. 19, 2019 a VAPO proceeding was ostensibly commenced in Spokane County Superior Court. Jerome and Mary Green were served VAPO pleadings but the service on Mary Green was defective. After a couple of continuances the matter was set for an evidentiary hearing on Feb. 22, 2019. Jerome Green was unaware at that time that the initial

service of process on his mother Mary Green was defective.

Commissioner High-Edward noted the defective service on Mary Green when she reviewed the file and issued her letter to the parties dated April 30, 2019. The commissioner was reviewing the file due to prepare for Judge Moreno's order of remand and a hearing was scheduled for May 13, 2019.

RCW 74.34.120 (3) provides as follows:

When a petition under RCW 74.34.110 is filed by someone other than the vulnerable adult, notice of the petition and hearing *must be personally served upon the vulnerable adult* not less than six court days before the hearing. In addition to **copies of all pleadings filed by the petitioner**, the petitioner <u>shall</u> provide a written notice to the vulnerable adult **using the standard notice form developed** under RCW 74.34.115. (Emphasis added in bold and underline)

In this case the first declaration of service for Mary Green [CP 34-37] the SPD officer shows that he <u>failed</u> to serve Mary Green the "notice of rights for Vulnerable Adult" (RCW 74.34.305) as well as "other pleadings" required by RCW 74.34.120(3). In her letter dated April 30, 2019 [CP 171] Commissioner High-Edward pointed out this defective service of process and directed DSHS to essentially "recommence" this cause of action by having Mary Green <u>served again</u> this time with the "original petition" and the "notice of rights for vulnerable adults." At the May 13, 2019 modification hearing after Mary Green had been "re-served" with a

second set of VAPO pleadings on May 5, 2019 (RP 56, lines 19-20) commissioner High-Edward stated:

Sure. I don't think they filed a new petition. They just <u>reserved</u> the original petition, but yes the return of service generally you would get a copy.(Emphasis in bold and underline)[RP p.57, lines 14-16]

Thus the commissioner allowed DSHS to have a "do over" <u>instead</u> of dismissing this case for lack of subject matter jurisdiction which she should have done, sua sponte, at this May 13, 2019 hearing when the jurisdiction issue was raised and discussed.

The Div.III majority opinion of Feb. 9, 2021 states that this second service of process on Mary Green was authorized by RCW 74.34.120(4) and conferred jurisdiction on this case because it allows the court to "continue the case to allow for adequate service" (Op.5). The problem with the majority analysis is that the evidentiary hearing on Feb. 22, 2019 had already occurred before commissioner High-Edward discovered the defective service on Mary Green and shared this information with the parties via her letter of April 30, 2019. In effect then, the horse was already out of the barn. Testimony had been heard and oral and written findings were made by the court and a judgment was entered against Jerome Green on Feb. 22, 2019

First and basic to any litigation is jurisdiction and first and basic to jurisdiction is service of process. *Dobbins v. Mendoza*, 88 Wn. App. 862 (Div. III, 1997) citing *Scott v. Goldman*, 82 Wn. App. 1, 6 (1996) When a court lacks in personam jurisdiction for a party any such judgment entered is void. *Dobbins, supra*. The failure to accomplish personal service of process is <u>not</u> a defect that can be cured by amendment of paperwork. Errors in the <u>form</u> of original process are however, generally viewed as amendable defects so long as the defendant is <u>not prejudiced</u> thereby. *Sammamish Point Homeowners Assn. v, Sammamish Point LLC*, 116 Wn.App.117 (Div. I, 2003) citing *Whitney vs. Knowlton*, 33 Wash 319, 322 (1903)

FORM VS. SUBSTANCE-The amendment of service in this case was not a matter of mere <u>form</u> but was in fact a matter of great <u>substance</u>. Commissioner High-Edward was particularly concerned that Mary Green was not served her "notice of rights" as required by the VAPO statute.

SUBSTANTIAL RIGHTS AND PREJUDICE-Secondly Jerome Green's <u>substantial rights</u> had already been <u>prejudiced</u> since the evidentiary hearing had already been held on Feb. 22, 2019 and

adverse findings and a judgement had already been entered against Jerome Green.

BOOTSTRAPPING-Indeed Division III is on record as disallowing litigants to "bootstrap their own otherwise untimely claim." See published opinion of *Curtin v. City of East Wenatchee*, 12 Wn.Appp.2d 218 (Div. III, 2019), accord, *Ace Novelty Co. v. M.W. Kasch Co.*, 82 Wn.2d 145 (1973)[can't bootstrap jurisdiction] In this case Commissioner High-Edward improperly "bootstrapped" jurisdiction from the **second service of process** upon Mary Green which was done on May 5, 2019 well after this Feb. 22, 209 judgment thereby "rubberstamping" the findings and judgment that were entered against Mr. Green on Feb. 22, 2019.

3.The majority opinion fails to state how it came to the conclusion that the VAPO statutes, RCW 74.34 et seq have "broad jurisdictional authority" even though these statutes involve "summary proceedings" and their interpretation must be "strictly construed" by the courts. This should be reviewed by this court as a matter of continuing and substantial public interest per RAP 13.4(b)(4).

The majority opinion in this case states that these VAPO statutes have "broad jurisdictional authority to adjudicate the petition." (Op. 5). The majority does this <u>without</u> stating any supporting reasoning or citing legal authorities. In his Opening

Brief (pg. 17) Jerome Green set forth extensive argument and legal authorities showing that since these VAPO statutes involve "summary proceedings" they must be "strictly construed" and not broadly construed as concluded by the majority' opinion. Although there is no reported opinion directly addressing this, Jerome Green has argued that Washington's Vulnerable Adult Protection Act is legislation involving summary proceedings and, as such, must be "strictly construed." For example Div. III in Commonwealth Real Estate Services v. Padilla, 149 Wn. App. 757 (Div. III, 2009) held that RCW 59.12 (unlawful detainer) involved summary proceedings which required the court to "strictly construe" these statutes. Padilla, id citing Hartson Partnership v. Goodwin, 99 Wn. App. 227, 235-36 (2000) Further in *Corning and Sons v*. McNamara, 8 Wn. App. 441 (1973) Div. III reviewed a temporary restraining order that had been served (pursuant to RCW 7.40.050) on the petitioner without prior notice and opportunity to be heard before his liberty and property interests were impacted by such an order. The petitioner had filed a motion to quash this TRO at the trial court level but his motion was denied. The Petitioner argued that the trial court erred in granting the ex parte restraining order prior to a contested hearing when "no emergency was alleged" and

that by doing so the petitioner was deprived of due process of law in the manner of *Sniadach v. Family Fin. Corp.* 395 U.S. 337 (1969); *Fuentes v. Shevin*, 407 U.S. 67 (1972) and *Lucas v. Stapp*, 6 Wn. App. 971 (1972). In his concurring opinion in *Corning and Sons v. McNamara*, *supra* Division III Judge Munson further held that there was not even a need to reach the constitutional issues for a reversal since simply <u>failing to strictly comply with the statutory requirements</u> (of RCW 7.04.050) alone was sufficient to warrant a reversal. Judge Munson took this position because these TRO statutes involve "summary proceedings" and, as such, are "narrowly construed" and there must be <u>strict</u> compliance with statutory requirements. *Barr v. Young*, 187 Wn. App. 105 (Div. III) citing *Munden v. Hazelrigg* 105 Wn.2d 39, 45 (1985).

CONTINUING AND SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST-To determine whether the issue involves a matter of continuing and substantial public interest three factors are considered: 1) the public or private nature of the question presented 2) the desirability of an authoritative determination for the future guidance of public officers. *State v. Beaver* 184 Wn.2d 321 (2015) The continuing and substantial public interest exception has been used in cases dealing with constitutional interpretation, the validity of statutes or

regulations and matters that are sufficiently important to the appellate court. *Id at 331*

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