# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/9/2021 11:41 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 995672

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### JEROME GREEN,

Appellant,

v.

### DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL AND HEALTH SERVICES,

Respondent.

### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

DAWN VIDONI
Assistant Attorney General
WSBA #36753
1116 W. Riverside Avenue, Suite 100
Spokane, WA 99201
509 456-3123
OID # OC638509
DawnT.Vidoni@atg.wa.gov

###

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

#### IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Mr. Green has not met the criteria necessary for this Court to grant discretionary review. A petition for review will only be accepted by the Supreme Court

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or

- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b). Mr. Green argues only the last two criteria, RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4).<sup>2</sup> Br. of Appellant at 15-18; neither of these are met. In addition, because Ms. Green has passed away, Mr. Green's argument is moot.

### A. This Case is Moot and Does Not Present Issues of Continuing and Substantial Public Interest.

Mary Green passed away in September 2020. The VAPO no longer prohibits Mr. Green from returning to the residence because Ms. Green is not there and the protection order no longer has any effect. There is no further relief this court can provide to him.

Appellate courts "do not typically review a case that is moot." *In re Welfare of B.D.F.*, 126 Wn. App. 562, 569, 109 P.3d 464 (2005). "Where only moot questions or abstract propositions are involved, . . . the appeal . . . should be dismissed." *Sorenson v. Bellingham*, 80 Wn.2d 547, 558, 496 P.2d 512 (1972). However, an appellate court may review a moot case if it presents issues of continuing and substantial public interest. *Marriage of Horner*, 151

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Although unclear, Mr. Green's argument regarding "bootstrapping" could be an attempt to show a conflict with other Washington cases, but the cases cited do not show a conflict because they concern jurisdiction over foreign defendants (*Ace Novelty Co. v. M.W. Kasch Co.*, 82 Wn.2d. 145, 508 P.2d. 1365 (1973) and statute of limitations (*Curtin v City of East Wenatchee*, 12 Wn.App.2d. 218, 457, P.3d. 470 (2020). See Br. of Appellant at 13.

Wn.2d 884, 891, 93 P.3d 124 (2004). To determine whether a matter of continuing and substantial public interest is involved, the court considers "whether the issues presented are public or private in nature, the desirability of an authoritative determination to provide guidance to public officers, and the likelihood that the issues will recur." *In re B.D.F.*, 126 Wn. App. at 569. The court may also "consider the likelihood that the issue will escape review because the facts of the controversy are short lived." *Id.* The above considerations should be rigorously examined and applied "to ensure that an actual benefit to the public interest in reviewing a moot case outweighs the harm from an essentially advisory opinion." *Hart v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 111 Wn.2d 445, 450, 759 P.2d 1206 (1988).

Whether an appeal is private in nature or a public dispute is a highly fact specific inquiry. In *In re Marriage of Horner*, this Court reviewed a moot relocation order because a question of statutory interpretation existed, the result of which could provide additional guidance to lower courts, and the issue was likely to reoccur given the frequency of divorce proceedings. *Marriage of Horner*, 151 Wn.2d 884, 892-893, 93.P.3d 124 (2004). Similarly, review was granted where the Department challenged the court's authority to order the specific placement of a child pursuant to a voluntary placement agreement. *In re Placement of R.J.*, 102 Wn. App. 128, 132, 5 P.3d 1284

(2000). Clarifying the powers and authority of the court was determined to be in the public interest. *Id*.

When the appellate courts granted review in the aforementioned cases, they did so to provide clarity or to interpret the requirements of a statute for the first time. That is not necessary here. The facts of Mr. Green's case are specific to him and do not raise public issues. Protection orders regularly require perpetrators to leave residences they share with their victims; to order otherwise would up-end the entire statutory scheme enacted to prevent domestic abuse. The law is already clear that removals from shared residences are permitted and no further guidance is necessary. When considering the relevant factors, a decision in this appeal would provide little guidance to public officers that does not already exist.

In addition, review of this case is not necessary because it is unlikely that the issue will evade review. Protection orders occur with some frequency, but there are multiple points of review. Petitions for restraining orders must be accompanied by affidavits signed under oath setting forth the actions warranting the relief requested. *See* Chapters 74.34, 26.50 RCW. Prior to issuing a protection order, an evidentiary hearing must be held. RCW 74.34.120, 26.50.050. Protection orders may be modified or vacated. RCW 74.34.163, 26.50.130. Additionally, protection orders are subject to review by appellate courts. There is little likelihood that this protection

order, or others like it, will evade review. Mr. Green's removal from his home does not warrant review. His removal from the home was temporary and Mr. Green had only to speak to any of the numerous medical providers caring for Ms. Green to learn the provisions of her care and return to the home. Now that Ms. Green has passed away, the protection order has no effect. This Court cannot provide relief to Mr. Green.

# B. The Court Acted Within Its Authority When it Temporarily Prohibited Mr. Green from Residing at the Shared Residence of the Victim after Ms. Green was Properly Served with the VAPO and Raised No Objection

Mr. Green fails to show a question of law under the constitution meriting this Court's review because the trial court applied settled principles of law in issuing its order to protect a vulnerable adult.

RCW 74.34.110 allows petitions for protection of vulnerable adults to be filed when accompanied by an affidavit made under oath. RCW 74.34.110. A temporary order of protection may be granted until a hearing on the petition takes place. RCW 74.34.120(5). Regardless, whether a temporary order of protection is granted, the court must order a hearing on the petition no later than fourteen days from the date of filing the petition. RCW 74.34.120(1). RCW 74.34.120(3) states that when a petition under RCW 74.34.100 is filed by someone other than the vulnerable adult, notice of the petition and hearing must be personally served upon the vulnerable

adult not less than six court days before the hearing. RCW 74.34.120(3). If timely service cannot be made, "the court shall continue the hearing date until the substitute service approved by the court has been satisfied." RCW 74.34.120(4).

When law enforcement initially served Ms. Green, the officer only noted that he or she gave Ms. Green the Temporary Order for Protection and Notice of Hearing. CP 34-35. But, Ms. Green was subsequently served with the petition for VAPO, Notice to Vulnerable Adult, and notice setting a May 13, 2019 hearing on May 2, 2019. Even if Ms. Green did not receive all of the documents required by RCW 74.34.120 prior to the original hearing, the error was remedied because she received all of the documents within six days of the new hearing. Ms. Green did not object to entry of the VAPO. CP 193-194.

Mr. Green argues that the court lacked subject matter jurisdiction because of the initial defect in service of process on Ms. Green. Assuming for the sake of argument that Mr. Green may raise lack of service on a different party on appeal, there is no reason to address the argument that the court lacked jurisdiction as result. If the vulnerable adult is not the petitioner, and "[i]f timely service cannot be made" on the vulnerable adult, then "the court shall continue the hearing date until the substitute service approved by the court has been satisfied." RCW 74.34.120(4). Had the

legislature intended a service defect to warrant dismissal of a VAPO petition with prejudice, rather than require a continuance of the hearing until timely service was achieved, the legislature would have said so. *See State v. Keller*, 143 Wn.2d 267, 277-79, 19 P.3d 1030 (2001) (recognizing we should assume the legislature knows what it means and means what it says). Thus, continuing the hearing here was not only the appropriate remedy, it was necessary. Any service defects were timely corrected by continuing the hearing and re-serving Ms. Green. The statute was strictly complied with and the court did not lose jurisdiction. Thus, the remedy for imperfect service is continuation of the VAPO hearing, not dismissal of the petition.

# C. A No Contact Order Was Necessary to Protect the Victim from Mr. Green and is Authorized by 74.34 RCW

The trial court acted within its discretion authorized by RCW 74.34.130 when it limited Mr. Green's contact with Ms. Green. The Abuse of Vulnerable Adults Act explicitly authorizes the superior court to order relief as it deems necessary for the protection of the vulnerable adult. RCW 74.34.130. The commissioner properly exercised her broad powers to grant relief as necessary to protect Ms. Green from abuse, neglect, financial exploitation and abandonment. *See Calhoun v. State*, 146 Wn. App. 877, 889, 193 P.3d 188 (2008).

RCW 74.34.145(2) states that when an order of protection is issued that prohibits the respondent from having contact with the vulnerable adult, excludes him or her from a specified location, or prohibits the person from coming within a specified distance of a location, a violation of the provision shall be punishable under RCW 26.50.110 "regardless of whether the person is a family or *household* member..." RCW 74.34.145(2) (emphasis added).

Here, Mr. Green demonstrated no understanding of the seriousness of Ms. Green's condition and actively ignored medical professionals and others to educate him on how to care for her without putting her at risk of substantial harm. CP 84; RP 48. RCW 74.34 contemplates that although a protection order may not expressly require a respondent move out of his house, it may effectively require him to do so if the respondent is prohibited from having contact with a person living in the house. *See In re Knight*, 178 Wn. App. 929, 940, 317 P.3d 1068 (2014) (son was effectively evicted from his separate residence on 26-acre estate because the protection order prohibited him from coming within 1,000 feet of the victim's residence which was also on the estate property). The superior court is not required to consider the impact on the respondent; instead, the superior court's consideration is properly focused on the protection and well-being of the vulnerable adult: "The stated purpose of the [Act] is to protect vulnerable

adults from abuse, financial exploitation, and neglect." *Endicott v. Saul*, 142 Wn. App. 899, 919, 176 P.3d 560 (2008) (citing RCW 74.34.110)).

Whether Mr. Green has an ownership interest in his mother's residence is irrelevant for enforcing the protection order. The court, within its discretion under RCW 74.34.130, restricted Mr. Green's contact with Ms. Green, and placed limits on the time he spent in her home and his conduct while there. RP 49, 51-53. The court provided Mr. Green with the means of obtaining expanded and less restricted contact with his mother and even contemplated that he would be able to return to the home. CP 85; RP 51-53. Knowing that a guardianship petition would soon be filed, the court authorized the GAL to proffer recommendations as to Mr. Green's involvement with Ms. Green. CP 88. The only caveat for expanded contact was that Mr. Green avail himself of information readily available to him from his mother's medical providers. RP 52. The court expressly rejected Mr. Green's protests that he did not have the financial ability to take specific classes or learn advanced caretaking skills. RP 51. Mr. Green needed only to demonstrate knowledge of his mother's condition and insight into the extreme risk to her if he did not strictly comply with the doctor's orders. CP 89-90; RP 49, 52. There was no expectation that Mr. Green perform the care, only that he not put Ms. Green at risk by giving her foods and liquids that she could not safely consume, like he had done several times in the past.

Mr. Green was ordered to vacate his residence temporarily and given direction on what he needed to do to return. CP 85-86, 89; RP 49-50, 51-53. The court properly found that Ms. Green was at imminent risk if Mr. Green remained in her home because Mr. Green admitted that he continued to provide food and liquids to her that her narrowed esophagus did not allow her to tolerate. CP 84. Other than being unable to reside in the home until he demonstrates an understanding of Ms. Green's needs, Mr. Green's property interest remains unaltered. Prior to the modification order, the limitations on Mr. Green's actions were minimal – he could not remain in the house overnight, nor provide food or liquid to Ms. Green, and another person needed to be present when he was in the home - but according to family members and police reports, he was not complying with the original orders. CP 107-23. In the two months between the original VAPO hearing and the modification hearing, Mr. Green did not take any steps to further his knowledge about his mother's condition or needs. RP 52. He did not attend medical appointments, did not contact her doctor, and did not follow up with the hospital. RP 48-52. Instead, by all reports, when Mr. Green "visited" his mother, he largely ignored her. RP 48. He was often found in a different section of the house attending to his own hygiene needs and did not even let other family members know he was present until one of them inadvertently stumbled upon him. RP 47-48. When he did talk to his mother, he discussed legal matters and caused her to become agitated to the point that she refused to eat or allow others to care for her. RP 25. Because Mr. Green did not educate himself on Ms. Green's care, he continued to pose a danger to her and the restrictions imposed by the VAPO remained necessary.

## D. A Protection Order That Temporarily Limits the Perpetrator from a Shared Residence Does not Effect a Takings

Mr. Green's claim that the VAPO effected a takings does not present a constitutional claim meriting this Court's review because the Court of Appeals properly concluded that there was no takings. The takings clause of the Fifth Amendment provides, "Nor shall private property be taken for public use, without just compensation." U.S. Const. amend. V. This concept is reflected in state law as well, "No private property shall be taken or damaged for public or private use without just compensation having been first made." Wash. Const. art. I, § 16. Neither constitutional claim applies to the facts of Mr. Green's case. In order to constitute a per se taking, the government must physically deprive the owner of economically viable use of the land. U.S. v. General Motors Corp., 323 U.S. 373, 381, 65 S. Ct. 357 (1945).

There was no per se taking here because any impact on the property interest was temporary and limited, which does not amount to a taking. Mr.

Green provides no authority that excluding a person from their residence through a protection order constitutes a taking, and DSHS is aware of none. Indeed, such a rule would invalidate numerous laws established for the protection of vulnerable adults (RCW 74.34); domestic violence victims (RCW 26.50); and sexual assault victims (RCW 7.90, 7.92), not to mention no-contact orders protecting victims in criminal cases and restraining orders issued in family law cases.

And Mr. Green has not even established that he had a present possessory interest in the property. Although Mr. Green may have had an interest through the quit claim deed (if it was valid), Ms. Green retained a life estate in the property. Accordingly, Mr. Green did not have any current possessory interest and only future financial interest in the residence. *See* 17 Wash. Practice, Real Estate §1.4 (2d ed.) (updated May 20) (owner of life estate has exclusive right of possession during measuring life, with some limitations not applicable here); *In re Estate of Campbell*, 87 Wn. App. 506, 511, 942 P.2d 1008 (1997) ("The principle is well settled that a life tenant who is the holder of a present estate for life in real property is entitled to the possession and use of the property . . . .") (quoting 51 Am. Jur. 2d, *Life Tenants and Remaindermen*, §32, at 256 (1970)).

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